
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 22nd March, 2018

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 22nd March, 2018, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, 
Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, 
Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith and Ms H Smith

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

1 Membership 
The Panel is asked to note that Bethan Haskins has re-joined the Panel in place 
of Alison Brett.

2 Apologies and substitutes 

3 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 January 2018 (Pages 5 - 20)

4 Chairman's Announcements 

5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

6 Corporate Parenting Challenge Card Update - "KCC acting as a guarantor for 
Care Leavers" (Pages 21 - 26)

7 Verbal Update by the Deputy Cabinet Member (Pages 27 - 28)

8 Performance scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 29 - 54)



9 Quarter 3 Health Initial Health Assessment Data Overview (Pages 55 - 62)

10 Proposal to develop a Regional Adoption Agency (Pages 63 - 68)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Wednesday, 14 March 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Council Chamber, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Monday, 29 January 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs T Carpenter, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, 
Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey, 
Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer and Ms C Smith

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley (Corporate Director for Children Young People and 
Education), Mr S Fitzgerald (Assistant Director, South Kent, and Lead Officer for 
Missing Children), Ms M L Hall (Commissioning Manager - Children Living Away 
From Home), Mrs M Robinson (Management Information Unit Service Manager) and 
Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

Item 1 was taken later in the meeting and appears as minute 56 

47. Membership - to note recent changes to the Panel's membership 
(Item 2)

The Panel noted that Nancy Sayer had joined the Panel as an additional NHS 
representative and that Caroline Smith had joined in place of Naintara Khosla. 

48. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies for absence had been received from Andy Heather.  

There were no substitutes.  

49. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 9 November 2017 
(Item 4)

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2017 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters 
arising. 

50. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 5)

1. The Chairman announced that the Kent Adoption Conference would take 
place on 23 March and invited all Panel Members to attend. The Democratic Services 
Officer undertook to send the conference flyer to all Panel Members after the 
meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2. The Chairman also referred to a copy of the ‘Get Involved’ newsletter, which 
all County Council Members had received, and the work of the Dartford Youth 
Council, and said that these were excellent examples of young people in care getting 
involved and expressing their views. 

3. The Chairman introduced Matt Dunkley, the new Corporate Director of 
Children, Young People and Education, and welcomed him to his first meeting of the 
Panel.

51. Meeting dates 2018/19 
(Item 6)

It was RESOLVED that the meeting dates reserved for the Panel’s meetings in 
2018/19 be noted, as follows:-

Thursday 22 March 2018
Friday 1 June 2018
Thurs 19 July 2018
Weds 19 September 2018
Thurs 1 November 2018
Tues 29 January 2019
Weds 27 March 2019

Al meetings will start at 10.00 am at County Hall, Maidstone. 
 
52. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 7)

1. Ms Dunstan and Ms Mutton gave a verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, 
the Super Council and the Young Adults Council. The text of the update will be 
attached to the final version of these minutes.

2. Ms Smith added that funding would be made available to support the work 
groups for young women in care, and that Teresa Carpenter and Carolyn Moody 
hoped to help with these groups. Similar groups for young men were being piloted in 
East Kent as demand for them had arisen there, and it was hoped that this initiative 
would later be able to spread across the county. 

3. It was suggested that a further report on the use of the MOMO App be made 
to a future meeting of the Panel and that this include the views of social workers on 
the usefulness of the App and perhaps some case studies of how it has been used. 
The Democratic Services Officer undertook to add this to the work programme. 

4. It was RESOLVED that the update be noted, with thanks.        

53. Corporate Parenting Challenge Cards 
(Item 8)

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and thanked Members and officers for their 
sponsorship and support for the Virtual Triathlon event in October.  He then referred 
back to the discussion at a previous Panel meeting about corporate parents taking on 

Page 6



the role of guarantor for care leavers’ rent payments, which was now being reviewed 
in the light of similar arrangements being made by other local authorities.   Mr 
Dunkley added that, in his view, unless there was a very good reason for the County 
Council as corporate parent not to be a guarantor, then the arrangement should be 
open as a possibility, as it would be for any natural parent supporting their child into 
adulthood.  He undertook to take further legal advice about the issue and assured the 
Panel that appropriate safeguards would be put in place before any arrangement was 
entered into. 

2. Foster carers on the Panel welcomed this review of the guarantor proposal as 
it supported young people towards independence, and was something that most 
foster carers would not be able to afford to offer on their own.  Another speaker 
agreed that such an arrangement would be an onerous undertaking for a family. Her 
family had recently looked into making such an arrangement for a relative and had 
found the associated financial enquiries intrusive.  

3. Mr Doran was asked to relay the Panel’s thanks and appreciation to staff for 
the work undertaken to progress the challenges. 

4. It was RESOLVED that the progress made to date on Challenge Cards   be 
noted, the review of the guarantor issue be welcomed and the Panel’s thanks 
and appreciation for the work undertaken to progress these challenges be 
relayed to the staff concerned.  

54. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item 9)

1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Mr R W 
Gough, gave a brief verbal update on the following issues:-
Ofsted ‘annual conversation’ – this was a new model of Ofsted engagement. The 
first conversation would take place on 7 February and would cover a range of service 
areas in some depth. A number of documents had been submitted which set out the 
County Council’s self-assessment of its children’s social care and education services, 
and this self-assessment covered the same ground as an Ofsted inspection.
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) update – there were currently 
274 UASC under 18 and 874 over 18, the latter having care leaver status.  As had 
been expected, 1 January had seen a large number of UASC turn 18 and become 
care leavers, as UASC who arrived without paperwork were given 1 January as their 
date of birth.  There had been only 214 new arrivals during 2017, compared to 388 in 
2016 and 948 in 2015. The County Council was continuing to lobby ministers for 
increased funds to help cover its responsibilities towards UASC. Funding issues were 
particularly significant in relation to UASC care leavers.

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

55. Motion to exclude the press and public for exempt business 

The Panel RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Page 7



EXEMPT ITEMS (open access to minutes)

56. The views of Young People in Care 
(Item 1)

A party of social workers from the North Kent Children in Care service, Rodica 
Cobarzan (Service Manager), Jade Sanghera (Social Worker) and Phil Khumalo 
(Social Work Assistant), and two young unaccompanied asylum seekers, M (aged 
18) and R (aged 11), were present at the invitation of the Panel.  

1. The Chairman welcomed M and R to the meeting and hoped they had enjoyed 
visiting County Hall and learning about its history and that of the neighbouring prison. 

2. M and R were asked if they were well looked after in care and both said they 
were. M said he had been in the UK for four years, having come from Eritrea, and 
had been very well looked after during that time.  He had lived in shared housing 
briefly, and foster care, and was now living at a YMCA. He said he had ‘found his 
family’, referring to the team who supported him.  R was asked if he enjoyed school 
and he said that he did.  He had been in the UK for just over one year, having arrived 
in November 2016 from India.   

3. Phil and Rodica showed the Panel the Silver ‘Social Worker of the Year’ award 
which the team had won for their work with UASC, having submitted evidence of their 
work and been shortlisted in the ‘Creative Social Work’ category.  This win was a 
great achievement for them and they were very proud of the award.  It had raised the 
profile of the work that UASC social workers were doing, and they were proud to 
showcase their work to help UASC settle into new lives in the UK and gain an 
education and independence. The Panel congratulated the team on their success in 
winning the award. 

4. Rodica said the trauma that some of the young people had experienced was 
hard to put into words and working with them to help them learn new skills and grow 
in confidence was immensely rewarding and satisfying. They were running work 
groups to teach young people skills such as cooking, food hygiene and personal and 
home safety. Seeing young people learn to cook a meal together and then share that 
meal with the group was immensely rewarding.  Working with UASC brought to light 
the small issues which simply did not arise with civilian children but which needed 
careful thought when working with UASC. UASC also needed different support and 
more support than civilian children. A social worker was more likely to get a call from 
a UASC at the weekend, seeking support for something which had happened, 
perhaps something quite small, as they had no-one else to turn to for support.  

5. M said he felt close to the social worker, Michael, who had supported him over 
the years and called him ‘Dad’ as he felt he was a father to him. Michael was the only 
family M had and he would always call him whenever he needed support or advice. 
He spoke about everything to Michael and valued him highly.  Since he had reached 
18, the leaving care service had treated him as an adult, and he now had a small flat 
with his own kitchen.  He was attending college, had a job and enjoyed playing 
football. These achievements had been as a result of the work of the UASC team. 

Page 8



6. R said he had worked with Jade on his life story, and Jade had cooked Indian 
food with him, which he had enjoyed. He had come to the UK in very difficult 
circumstances and had lost track of his father during the journey. With Jade’s help he 
had found his old school online, had been able to trace his mother and was hoping to 
find his father as well.  After having an emergency placement with foster carers when 
he had first arrived in the UK, he had lived with the same foster carers since and with 
them he was learning good English and was working well at school.  

7. M added that, before living independently, he had lived in supported lodgings 
with foster carers and had received very good care there. 

8. Rodica and Phil told the Panel that the team had undertaken its group work 
since 2015/16 and had worked with many UASC in that time.  Work had focussed on 
teaching young people how to live in the UK, including how to manage money, 
personal and online safety and living in a community. Work group sessions were held 
once a week in the evenings, and each group worked in its own way by its individual 
rules, which young people set themselves.  Phil showed the Panel the schedule of 
sessions and the subjects which would be followed, for example, one week a visit 
from a community liaison officer or a visit to a fire station and the next week a talk on 
substance misuse. Sessions also included liaison with local youth services and 
sporting activities, at which M in particular had excelled.  After each session the 
group would prepare a meal together. Ten young people were able to work together 
in the kitchen at one time and would learn budgeting skills and food hygiene while 
cooking. He undertook to leave a copy of the schedule and photos of the group 
sessions with the DSO for circulation to the Panel.   

9. M thanked the social work team for the support they had given him and said 
that, as a result of their support and encouragement, he had been able to achieve his 
dream of playing football in a local team. His social worker Michael had helped him to 
find a coach who had taught him how to train and build up his physique. At 16, he 
had been playing football locally and had been approached by a scout to play football 
for the local league team.  Michael encouraged him to take up this opportunity and 
develop his football skills and he had been placed in the first team.  Michael had 
taught him to protect himself and stand up for himself when dealing with people, and 
had signed for him when he wanted to join the team as an under-18.  The social 
workers he had met as an UASC had all been good people and had helped him with 
getting into college and learning to use a computer for study, which had been difficult 
at first and was not something he enjoyed. When he had come to the UK he knew 
‘nothing’ and spoke no English, and had to learn the names of everything. Michael 
had helped him build his confidence, particularly to take up the place on the football 
team, and he was touched by the support and commitment he had given him. By 
being promoted into the first team he had achieved his dream. Michael had told him 
he would still look after him once he reached 18. 

10. Rodica said that work with UASC brought the team much satisfaction and that 
the UASC they had worked with had given them back just as much in return.  They 
had helped young people to achieve and to build confidence and it was so rewarding 
to hear M and R talk to the Panel about their lives.  

11. The Panel thanked M and R very much for attending and congratulated them 
on their achievements. The Chairman added that she was very proud of M and R and 
of the social work team which had supported them so well.  

Page 9



UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (meeting open to the press and public)

57. Virtual School Kent (VSK) Overview Report 2015-16 (validated results) and 
2016-17 (un-validated results) 
(Item 10)

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and highlighted key achievements in the year, 
including:

 The overall examination performance in Kent had exceeded the south east 
average

 The attainment gap between children in care and all learners had been 
narrowed

 Kent’s KS4 results had exceeded the national average
 The cohort of young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) 

had continued to fall 
 Jo Carpenter and the VSK participation apprentices had organise 19 activity 

days which had engaged over 400 young people
 The annual 16+ achievement awards event had grown so much that it now 

needed a larger venue
 Ofsted had praised VSK’s use of pupil premium 

2. Mr Doran then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, 
including the following:-

a) VSK supported foster carers in providing a flexible timetable as an 
alternative to a pupil attending a pupil referral unit (PRU).  Without this 
option and support, some foster carers would have to cope with a 
disaffected young person being at home all day, and young people would 
not have the opportunity to address and overcome their difficulties in a 
supporting environment; and

b) there was sometimes a lag in schools receiving the pupil premium 
allocation for a pupil and this could be due to the allocation for a child 
placed in Kent from another local authority taking a while to be sent on to 
the new host authority.  In an area in which many out-of-county children in 
care were placed, this lag could have a sizeable impact on some schools’ 
funding.  Local authorities around the UK had different processes for 
claiming and allocating pupil premium. This issue could be picked up by 
the Select Committee on Pupil Premium.

3. It was RESOLVED that the performance of the Virtual School Kent in 2015 – 
2017 be noted, its impact upon positive outcomes for children in care be 
welcomed and its priorities for 2018 – 2019, set out in the report, be agreed. 

58. Young People Missing from Placement 
(Item 11)

1. Mr Fitzgerald introduced the report and highlighted the ways in which, until 
very recently, Kent differed from other local authorities in how missing episodes have 
been recorded, i.e., its pioneering work with sharing its reporting and data with the 
police and the way in which it conducted interviews with young people returning from 

Page 10



being missing. Mr Fitzgerald responded to comments and questions from the Panel, 
including the following:-

a) national guidance gave no exact definition of the word ‘missing’ and 
historically local authorities and police forces have applied the term in different 
ways. ‘Missing’ could be taken to mean that a young person was not at home 
at a time when they should be or could apply to anyone whose whereabouts 
could not be established, where the circumstances were out of character, or 
the context suggests that the child may be at risk of harm.  The age range of 
young people most likely to go missing was 14 – 15.   Mr Dunkley added that 
this issue was to be covered in the Ofsted conversation on 7 February as local 
authorities had a responsibility to follow up all missing episodes relating to 
their children in care, including UASC for which they were the corporate 
parent;

b) one foster carer added that she had previously had a foster child who had 
rarely returned home on time throughout his whole placement.  She had been 
obliged to report him as missing and he had then been included amongst the 
figures, although his lateness was never a big issue;

c) some young people went missing in order to try to find relatives elsewhere in 
the UK.  Contact with friends and family remained the single biggest pull factor 
for children who go missing;

d) asked how many young people went missing and could not be found, Mr 
Fitzgerald explained that the majority of children who went missing (75%) did 
so for less than 24 hours.  However, the length of time missing was not in its 
own right an indicator of risk. Kent had had no citizen children who had gone 
missing and had not been found but there were a small number who went 
missing for extended periods.  Some UASC went missing within a short period 
of arriving in the UK and for these there was a joint agency response as there 
was a high probability that these young people will have been trafficked.  
There was also a number of UASC who went missing close to their 18th 
birthday and who did not return.  For these young people a pending change in 
legal status was believed to be the principle trigger. Ms Hammond added that 
approximately thirty UASC under the aged of 18 were still missing. Members 
asked for more detailed figures of the number of young people missing who 
had not returned and officers undertook to supply this information outside the 
meeting.  This was subsequently done. Ms Hammond then suggested that a 
regular update report on the cohort of young people missing be submitted to 
the Panel; 

e) Mr Dunkley undertook to follow up with the Young Lives Foundation, which 
was delivering the service as an independent provider.  It was recognised that 
some young people will prefer to to speak to someone other than the local 
authority when they had come back from being missing as they could talk 
more frankly about a problem they might have with the local authority’s care 
service or staff;  

f) asked why some young people refused a return interview, Mr Fitzgerald 
explained that some saw it as a repetitive discussion covering the same 
ground each time, while others felt they were at risk in a situation they did not 

Page 11



feel able to discuss easily.  These young people would need to be made 
aware of the option available to them to speak to someone independent of the 
local authority and they could be encouraged to see a return interview as 
being in their own best interests in helping them start to tackle the issues 
which had caused them to go missing;

g) asked if it were possible to extend the 72-hour period within which return 
interviews should be conducted, Mr Fitzgerald explained that 72 hours had 
been set in statutory national guidance but it was still possible to conduct and 
record an interview after this time; 

h) asked what could be done to stop young people from going missing, Mr 
Fitzgerald explained that a focus group of young people in 2017 had been 
asked what they would want to see done differently in terms of handling 
missing episodes and return interviews. This group had said that repeated 
return interviews which asked the same questions were not effective; and the 
County Council needed to ensure that the return interview did not become 
process driven.  Practitioners need to be tenacious, creative and persistent 
and ensure that agencies are working together to identify and mitigate risks.  
The recent changes to the placement planning procedures was one example 
where the County Council had placed an emphasis on developing an effective 
response to missing episodes whilst at the same time attempting to ensure 
that judgements about what constitutes a missing episode are not risk 
adverse; and

i) following a return interview, the record of interview would be signed off by the 
team manager and discussed with the social workers working with the young 
person concerned to address any areas of practice which might have 
contributed to the missing episode. 

2. It was RESOLVED that the current practice challenges faced when children in 
care go missing, the work being undertaken to better understand the 
circumstances that lead to missing episodes and the steps being taken to 
mitigate risks as much as possible, be noted; and

59. Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy 2015 - 2018 
(Item 12)

1. Ms Smith and Ms Hall introduced the report and explained that the Panel was 
being given the opportunity to comment on and influence the review of the strategy.  
They then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the 
following:-

a) a review of the supply of supported housing places had been carried out as 
part of the preparation for a key decision about the service, and a further 
review of provision would be undertaken later in the summer of 2018; and

b) the strategy was primarily concerned with accommodation for children in 
care, but, related to it, more work was required on preventative and early 
help services. These services would become part of the strategy in the 
future.  It was suggested that the Panel have a further opportunity to 

Page 12



consider and comment on the strategy later in the summer of 2018, before 
it was finalised, and this was subsequently added to the work programme.

2. The Panel then discussed the recruitment, training and retention of foster 
carers, with the foster carers on the Panel contributing their experiences and views. 
Points arising included the following:-

a) information evenings sought to help attract more foster carers but this was 
a challenge and word of mouth was still the most used method of attracting 
new people;

b) Mr Griffiths said the role of foster carer was unlike any other and was a 
vocation rather than a job;

c) foster carers recruited more recently could be asked for their input of their 
experiences of recruitment and how this could be improved in future; 

d) Mrs Carpenter and Ms Moody were looking into the pay structure for foster 
carers and how this could compete more effectively with IFAs. This work 
was much appreciated;

e) support for foster carers was an important part of the package and Mr 
Dunkley asked foster carers to say what more the County Council could do 
to support local foster carers’ associations.  Ms Moody said the structure of 
support groups was important and they performed a valuable role but could 
have a closer link with social work support.  Mrs Carpenter added that, due 
to budget restrictions, foster carer support groups had a very low priority, 
which did not reflect the value the county placed upon its foster carers.  
Foster carers needed to have a supportive group in which they felt able to 
voice worries and discuss problems and find common ground with others 
who were having, or had dealt with, the same worries and problems. Use 
of IT for sharing forums was an option but older foster carers tended to 
resist the use of such media; 

f) these views surprised some Panel members and it was suggested that the 
Panel take a detailed look at the pay and rewards for foster carers. An item 
would be added to the work programme for a future meeting; 

g) a former foster carer on the Panel said she would not take up the role 
again now as she was put off by the recruitment process and fear of not 
receiving sufficient support; 

h) some aspects of fostering, foir example, the respite care available, may not 
be well known by all foster carers so would need to be publicised; and

i) information evenings had been made more informal as part of the recent 
‘rebranding’ of the fostering role and good feedback had been received 
about the new format. Most people considering fostering would think about 
it over a long period (perhaps up to one year) before finally deciding. 
Young people who had been fostered sometimes attended information 
evenings, but these were vulnerable young people and care needed to be 
taken about exposing them to an audience which, in the early stages, was 

Page 13



unknown.  The Virtual School Kent apprentices supported and facilitated 
young people’s participation in foster carers’ training.

3. Ms Smith undertook to look into and address the issues raised during the 
discussion.  

4. It was RESOLVED that the proposal to review and update the Sufficiency, 
Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018 be welcomed and 
supported, and a further report be made to a future meeting of the Panel to 
allow for more discussion of the final strategy, once the issues raised during 
discussion had been taken into account.

60. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 13)

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and summarised key areas of 
performance since last reporting to the Panel.  She then responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) concern was expressed that performance targets should be realistic and 
achievable, but not too easy. A combination of shorter and longer-term targets 
would help the County Council to get to where it needed to be.  Mrs Robinson 
explained that some targets, for example, the number of initial health 
assessments undertaken within 20 days of a child coming into care, were not 
set by the County Council. Ms Sayer added that NHS commissioners in Kent 
had a key performance indicator of 85% for initial health assessments 
completed within the 20 working days set out in the statutory guidance. The 
County Council target was 90%. NHS colleagues worked with social care 
colleagues to build an improved picture of a child’s case, and consent issues 
for children within the NHS were different from those in social care.  Ms Sayer 
offered to supply a breakdown of health assessment data for the last quarter 
to show what was set and monitored by the Kent NHS clinical commissioning 
groups, and Mrs Robinson offered to set out the process for target setting in 
the next performance scorecard report; and  

b) Mr Dunkley explained that the reasons for patterns of performance would be 
investigated as part of the overall picture, for example, for the 13.3% of young 
people who refused health assessments, reasons for and rates of refusal 
would be examined and compared to those in other local authorities. He 
added that a good performance target should balance predicted performance 
with an element of stretch and aspiration.  Ms Smith offered to supply in the 
next performance scorecard report detail of the reasons given for refusal and 
how refusal would be dealt with.  

2. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the children in care scorecard 
and the information given in response to comments and questions be noted, 
with thanks, and the next performance scorecard report include the process 
for target setting, a breakdown of health assessment data for the last quarter 
to show what was set and monitored by the NHS, and detail of the reasons 
given for refusal of a health assessment and how such refusal would be dealt 
with. 

Page 14



Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Monday 29th January 2018

Corporate Parenting Panel Update-

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

Team Update 

Our Participation Team is growing which is great as we have more capacity to connect with 
more children and young people. The team is led by Jo Carpenter, and we now have 2 
Participation Support Officers who have joined the team, Andrea Wood and Sarah Newman 
as well as a new Apprentice Tom Byrne. We are also recruiting for 2 new care leaver 
apprentices, so if we recruit it will make our team up 10 people.

We have brought along our calendar of events for this year for you, so please feel free to 
add any dates to your diaries! More dates will follow!

We would like to draw your attention to our planned Talent Show on Thursday 12th April in 
the lecture theatre here at Sessions as you all will be invited to attend – feel free to come 
along with your talent!!

February Activity days

- NK/WK Monday 12th February 2018  
- EK/SK Wednesday 14th February 2018 (32 spaces split into AM & PM session)

Days will consist of baking sessions where we will be making cakes and some food 
hygiene and safety training.

East Kent Girls Group Proposal

The aim of this project is to empower the participants and raise their self-esteem alongside 
giving them useable and practical information.  It aims to facilitate a sense of belonging, 
provide opportunities to make friends with other young people in care and provide a safe 
environment in which worries and concerns can be shared without judgement. The beauty 
and hair sessions will aim to heighten their self-worth, confidence and give them the 
opportunity to feel pampered

This will be a targeted project focussing on girls in care between the ages of twelve and 
seventeen living in the East Kent region who may be vulnerable in some way, such as to 
loneliness, if older, at risk of becoming NEET or possible child sexual exploitation.

It is anticipated that the programme will be available for 20 girls at one time and will consist 
of a 6-week programme delivered in partnership with the CiC specialist Nurses and 
Canterbury College. If deemed successful, the programme will be rolled out in other parts of 
the County.

Page 17



Recruitment & Selection Update

The Participation Team is offering Recruitment & Selection Training for young people aged 
14 and over to help provide the skills needed to interview. Young people will receive a 
recognised qualification in ‘Interviewing Skills for Service Users’. Being involved in interviews 
is a great experience. They can learn more about what employers are looking for when 
employing new staff which can help them when they are being interviewed. It can help young 
people gain confidence and them the opportunity to learn new skills, such as how to ask 
questions, listen and communicate clearly. They can also put the experience on their CV. 
The next training sessions will be held on Thursday 15th February 2018 at Oakwood House.

OCYPC & Super Council 

In the summer at our County Wide Children in Care Council celebration event, young people 
were given the task to think of what were the barriers for children and young people getting 
involved in our Children in Care Councils? 

They all came up with good suggestions as to why this was - the most common theme that 
came up was that children and young people may not be sure exactly what a children in care 
council was. They may also be nervous about coming along and meeting other young 
people that they don’t know. They decided to have their own ‘biographies’ in a scrapbook for 
potential new members to look through before they joined to make them feel more 
comfortable. The scrapbook is being completed with information on all three of our councils 
and will contain staff and young people’s own information written by them as to why they 
come to their specific council and fun facts. 

The next meeting for Super Council and OCYPC will be held on Friday 16th February 2018. 

Focus Groups

In addition to our children in Care councils we have also started running young person’s 
focus groups once a term after school. This is a way to reach more young people and 
ensure we are getting wide and diverse opinions from children and young people and not 
just using the same pool of voices.

You don’t have to be a council member to attend, but the groups can encourage sign up. 
Each focus group has a topic and the young people also get to do an activity and have 
something to eat.

In December they met with some Elected Members to talk about their experiences at school 
and how they received additional support via Pupil Premium+ funding. They also made 
some Christmas decorations.

On the 18th January, 11 young people aged between nine and eighteen met with the Young 
Lives Foundation in Maidstone, to discuss the leaflets YLF give out to children and young 
people explaining their role as an advocacy service.  The discussion started by finding out 
what the young people already knew about advocacy before asking them for their opinions 
about the current leaflets that are given out.  The young people spent a lot of time discussing 
the content and design and came up with lots of fantastic ideas about how the leaflets could 

Page 18



be improved in the future.  They felt that it would be useful to have more than one leaflet so 
they could be targeted at younger and older children more effectively, should use brighter 
colours and include real quotations from young people who have benefited from YLF’s help.  
They are looking forward to seeing the new designs incorporating their ideas.  After this, all 
the young people took part in an art activity, painting money pots or building 3D models 
which was thoroughly enjoyed by all.  Finally, we finished off the meeting with pizza! 

MOMO

Things are now moving along with MOMO, the App that will help our young people get in 
touch more easily with us and the workers. More training is being planned for front line staff 
and the apprentices are looking at ways to promote MOMO to young people.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People & Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 22nd March 2018

Subject: Corporate Parenting Challenge Card Update – “KCC acting as a 
guarantor for Care Leavers”

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of progress made on 
the previous challenge card presented to the panel, as to whether 
KCC, in its role as Corporate Parents, can act as a guarantor for our 
young people leaving care. 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
Challenge Card progress to date and the implications for the County  
Council acting as a guarantor, but to SUPPORT in principle the 
actions of the County Council acting as a guarantor for care leavers, 
with a proposal to undertake a pilot scheme to inform a wider policy 
change.  

1.  Challenge Card Issued

1.1 A challenge was issued by the Young Adult Council (YAC) in June 2017 – ‘if a young 
person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent and work full time 
paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate Parent' act as the young 
person's guarantor? This was looked into and the response to this challenge was ‘KCC 
are not legally able to offer this but robust plans and procedures are in place to assist 
young people with accommodation through a young person's pathway plan, transitions 
workshops and young person's work books’. 

1.2 In July, members of the VSK Participation Team, along with officers from the Care 
Leavers 18+ Service and the Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting attended the launch 
of Centrepoint’s research on care leavers and housing – ‘From care to where?’ The key 
recommendations for policy and practice that resulted from the day are summarised in 
this report – Views from the frontline: what do young people need to move on from care 
successfully?

1.3 One of the recommendations in the report focuses around the fact that care leavers need 
sufficient money to pay rent and a deposit; and that local authorities should act as 
guarantors (as care leavers often do not have family members who can do this). The 
recommendation states that a clear contract should be established which sets out the 
maximum guarantee they are willing to provide plus deposit terms and conditions.

1.4 YAC reviewed the findings of the report at their meeting on 2 November 2017 and, in 
light of the fact that Centrepoint has included this as a recommendation, asked Corporate 
Parents to review the previous response to the challenge card. Members were alerted to 
this in a report to Corporate Parenting Panel on 29 January 2018. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

http://www.centrepoint.org.uk/careleavers
http://www.centrepoint.org.uk/careleavers
https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf
https://centrepoint.org.uk/media/2186/views-from-the-frontline-final.pdf


2. Challenge Card Update

2.1 The Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting has now reviewed the initial response to 
the challenge and, following the Centrepoint research, further legal advice has been 
sought. There is no evidence of a prohibition on a Local Authority acting as a Guarantor. 
The Localism Act 2011, states s1 ‘A local authority has power to do anything that 
individuals may generally do’. The 18plus Care Leavers Service already has in place an 
offer to care leavers to provide them with a rent deposit and one month’s rent in advance, 
so the guarantee would be against unpaid rent going forward rather than the initial set up. 

2.2 It has been confirmed that Devon County Council are currently offering to act as a 
Guarantor for rental costs and deposits for their care leavers. There is a set criteria and 
application process, starting initially with a low risk group of care leavers as part of a pilot 
project. 

2.3 Centrepoint’s research was presented as recommendations for both local and national 
government, although these recommendations are not legally binding. Legislation has not 
been passed requiring Local Authorities to act as a Guarantor to care leavers. Whilst 
KCC may wish to support care leavers in reaching planned independence, if KCC were 
to agree to act as a Guarantor the Council would be exposed to the following risks:

 KCC would be entering into an agreement with the Landlord and a separate contract 
agreement with the care leaver. KCC may wish to seek legal advice in relation to the 
terms and conditions of these contracts on each occasion incurring a cost. The care 
leaver should be encouraged to seek legal advice on the contract and, whilst they 
may be signposted to Shelter, Centrepoint or the Citizen Advice Bureau, they may 
request independent legal advice from a Solicitor and seek that KCC meet their 
reasonable costs.

 As Guarantor, KCC would have the financial risk that, in the event that the care 
leaver defaulted on their tenancy, including damages, the Landlord could seek to call 
in the rent deposit, lost rental income and reparations, resulting in a financial cost to 
the Council. A care leaver may be given notice to quit their tenancy and may seek 
KCC to act as Guarantor on more than one occasion.

3. Proposal and considerations for a Pilot Scheme for KCC to act as a guarantor. 

3.1 If in principle KCC agrees to act as a Guarantor, it would be necessary to further 
consider the financial risk particularly in relation to the numbers of care leavers. With 
the implementation of the Children and Social Work Act (2017) from 1 April 2018, KCC 
will have to take into account whether this is extended to young people up until the age 
of 25 years. The likelihood is that any guarantee called in may not be recovered and, 
therefore, there would be budgetary implications on an ongoing annual basis. Appendix 
1 details the forecast for numbers of young people entering the service between the 
years 2017-2021.  

Page 22



3.2 It is currently difficult to access private rented accommodation for our Care Leavers 
without a guarantor. They are often competing with other young people in employment 
who have family members that act in the guarantor role and landlords are reluctant to 
even consider care leavers. If KCC acted as a guarantor this would open up the private 
rental market to our young people, strengthening their case and giving them 
considerably more options of accommodation. The 18plus Accommodation Team 
already have links to the local housing forums, where private landlords could be 
approached. There would also be scope to review those young people in both 
supported and semi-independent accommodation, with a view to moving them into 
better quality independent rental properties, which could mean lower costs. Appendix 1, 
Table 4 details accommodation types and numbers.

3.3 Clear criteria would be required, including which Care Leavers can access the scheme 
and whether there would be a cap on the amount of the guarantee and the number of 
times KCC can act in this role, given that geographically rent is higher in certain areas 
of Kent and that some former unaccompanied asylum seeking young people have been 
placed outside of Kent, following the increased demand in 2015 (mainly into Medway 
and the London Boroughs). The pilot could test out KCC acting as a guarantor for the 
first 12 months of tenancy, with analysis of costs to KCC due to young people defaulting 
on rent payments, balanced with any savings from being able to access the private 
rental market for our care leavers. 

3.4 The implications of legal costs would need to be considered, depending on whether 
legal advice would be required by KCC on each occasion and whether KCC would meet 
the costs of the care leaver seeking independent legal advice on the contract 
agreement. 

4. Conclusion

It is recommended that it is agreed in principle that KCC could act as a Guarantor and 
this should be implemented in line with Devon County Council by starting with a small 
pilot group of low risk young people and the approval of set criteria of eligibility. This 
would test any financial implications with a low number of Care Leavers to inform a 
wider policy change following a review of learning and any identified financial risks.  A 
more detailed plan for the pilot scheme to be returned to Corporate Parenting Panel on 
1st June 2018 with timescales for completion.  The pilot would then inform any request 
for a permanent policy change.  

5.      Recommendations:
         Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the Challenge Card     

progress to date and the implications for the County  Council acting as a guarantor, but to 
SUPPORT in principle the actions of the County Council acting as a guarantor for care 
leavers, with a proposal to undertake a pilot scheme to inform a wider policy change. 

Page 23



6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith
Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk 

   
Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

7. Background documents: none

Page 24

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1: 

Forecast for numbers of Care Leavers within the 18plus Service and 
Accommodation Types

Table 1: Short Term Forecast – Citizen and UASC Care Leavers

Table 2: Care Leavers Forecast – Citizen

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

17 and 18 224 175 169 166 163
19 192 185 175 169 166
20 188 192 185 175 169
21 16 188 192 185 175
22 8 16 188 192 185
23 5 8 16 188 192
24 0 5 8 16 188

25+ 0 5 8 16

Total 633 769 938 1099 1254

In touch 0.907 0.907 0.907 0.907 0.907

Total 574 698 851 997 1137

Table 3: Care Leavers Forecast – UASC

Nov-17 Nov-18 Nov-19 Nov-20 Nov-21
18 386 181 117 103 101
19 292 369 181 117 103
20 112 292 369 181 117
21 23 112 292 369 181
22 4 23 112 292 369
23 4 4 23 112 292
24 1 4 4 23 112

25 1 1 4 4 23

Total 823 986 1,101 1,200 1,297

In touch 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85 0.85

Total 698 836 934 1018 1100

Page 25



Table 4: Current Accommodation Types for Care Leavers 

With parents or relatives/ Connected Person 197
Supported Lodgings (Not Former Foster Carer) 58
Independent Housing - KCC 497
Independent Housing - Social Housing 111
Independent Housing - Private Rental 149
University Housing 21
Semi-independent, transitional accommodation 119
Bed and Breakfast 4
Missing cohort(UASC)/refused accommodation/staying with 
friends 131
NHS/Community Home/Residential Care 9
Foyers 20
Emergency accommodation 4
In custody 27
Supported Lodgings (Staying Put) 73
Ordinary Lodgings without formal support 10
Total 1430

Page 26



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 22 March 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Deputy Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues, which will be given by 
Deputy Cabinet Member Mrs A D Allen, on behalf of the Cabinet Member:-

1. Statutory guidance regarding children in care and care leavers:
2. National review of fostering services
3. Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                                      and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director of Children, Young 
                                      People and  Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 22nd March 2018 

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored in order to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for January 2018 is attached to this report, together with the Target 
setting proposals for 2018-19.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard and the Target Setting document for 2018-19.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed within Specialist Children’s 
Services to identify and monitor progress on a range of areas where 
improvements in performance and practice will lead to better outcomes for 
children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for January 
2018 (Appendix 1). 

1.3 The report also contains the proposals for 2018-19 Targets (Appendix 2). 

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



2.3 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people.

3.    Summary of Performance – January 2017

3.1 The previous CIC Scorecard submitted to Corporate Parenting Panel was for 
November 2017.  During the period November 2017 to January 2018 the 
number of citizen CIC reduced from 1,428 to 1,423 and the number of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeing Children (UASC) reduced from 331 to 264, 
resulting in an overall reduction of 72 children in care.  For January 2018 the 
rate of CIC per 10,000 Child Population (including UASC) was 50.6, which is 
below the latest published average rate for England of 62.0, and Statistical 
Neighbours 56.1.  Both the England and Statistical Neighbour rates are as at 
March 2017.

3.2 Three of the performance measures in the CIC Scorecard were significantly 
away from the target:

3.2.1 % of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same social worker 
for the last 12 months.  Performance for January 2018 was 42.9%, 
which is a reduction from the previously reported figure of 46.1% 
(November 2017), and below the ‘floor standard’ of 45.0%.   Two 
factors have had a significant impact on performance for 2017-18.  The 
restructuring within the Disabled Children and Young People’s teams 
has seen their performance fall from 63.8% in March 2017 to 30.1% in 
January 2018.  We would expect to see performance for these teams 
start to improve 12 months following the start of the restructure, so 
from April 2018 onwards.  Secondly there have been high rates of 
maternity leave, particularly in the South Kent Children in Care Teams 
who have had 10 Social Workers go on maternity leave in the past 12 
months.  This has resulted in their performance reducing from 59.7% in 
April 2017 to 29.9% in January 2018

3.2.2 % of Initial Health Assessments (IHA) taking place within 20 
working days of a child coming into care.  Performance for January 
2018 was 75.6%, which is an improvement from the last reported 
figure of 73.5% (November 2017) but still significantly away from the 
target of 90.0%.  The Health Service Target for this measure is 85.0%, 
so following discussions at Corporate Parenting Panel on the 29th 
January 2018 it is proposed that the KCC Target is reduced to 85.0% 
for 2018-19 to be in line with the Health Service.   Against these 
proposals, and with a standard tolerance rate of 10.0%, current 
performance would fall within the Amber banding.  This performance 
measure includes young people who refuse an initial Health 
Assessment.  Reasons for refusal include:

 The young person does not want to be different to their peer 
group, to be asked personal questions and be taken out of 

Page 30



school for medical appointments as this draws attention to them.  
To address this, LAC Nurses can offer appointments after 
school, and young people are being encouraged by their Foster 
Carer, IRO and Social Worker to have the medical assessment.  
The LAC Nurses are also able to offer a visit to the young 
person in their foster carers home, if this is appropriate.

 The young person is missing at the time of the appointment and 
refuses to attend.  The reasons for this would be discussed with 
the young person and reflected within the Returner Interview.

 If the young person has been accommodated under Section 20 
of the Care Act, parents may refuse to give consent to the 
health assessment.  Current recording does not allow these 
issues of consent to be separated out from those who have 
refused.

3.2.3 % of cases where adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 
months, for those children with an Agency Decision for Adoption.  
For the 109 children in this cohort, a sole plan of adoption was made 
within 4 months for 59 children (54.1%).  Of the remaining 50 children, 
26 had adoption as the sole plan within 6 months.  The definition for 
this measure requires adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, 
which is a maximum of four months of a child coming into care.  For 
some children alternative plans are still being considered after this 
point, and this will be the correct course of action for these children.  

3.3 Four performance measures have changed RAG banding between the 
November 2017 and January 2018 Scorecards.  Those measures showing 
improved performance are:

3.3.1 % of CIC in Foster Care/Relatives and Friends placements 
(excluding UASC).  Performance has improved from 84.9% to 85.2%, 
achieving the 85.0% target and therefore moving the RAG banding for 
this measure from Amber to Green.

3.3.2 % Health Assessments held within the required timescale.  This 
measure includes both Initial and Review Health Assessments.  
Performance has improved from 88.8% to 92.7%, exceeding the target 
of 90.0% moving this performance measure from an Amber to Green 
RAG rating.

Those measures where performance decreased were:

3.3.3 % CIC Placement Stability: % in placement for the last 2 years.  
Performance has decreased from 71.0% to 69.8% resulting in a move 
from a Green to Amber banding.  Current performance is therefore 
0.02% away from the 70.0% Target

Page 31



3.3.4 % of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same social worker 
for the last 12 months has moved from a Green to Amber RAG rating 
and the explanation for the reduction in performance is explained in 
3.2.1 above.

4. Target Setting for 2018-19

4.1 The Target Setting process in Specialist Services starts with a review of the 
current measures to ensure that they are still relevant and reflective of the 
priorities for the Service.  These will cover a mixture of both national and local 
performance measures.  The Specialist Children’s Services Divisional 
Management Team, together with the Management Information Unit, meet to 
review current performance and available benchmarking data.  An informed 
decision is then made on the target for each performance measure, balancing 
the predicted performance with an element of stretch and aspiration.  As many 
of the performance measures are already at, or close to, optimum levels of 
performance it is proposed that many of the targets set for 2017-18 are 
retained for 2018-19.  

4.2 A document setting out the proposed targets for 2018-19 is attached for 
approval by the Corporate Parenting Panel. This includes relevant 
benchmarking data where it is available.

4.3 Additions and changes are proposed for nine performance measures.  These 
are shaded within the Target setting document and are detailed below:

4.3.1 Percentage of Children who participated at CIC Reviews.  The 
RED RAG banding for this measure was previously set at 85.5%.  The 
0.5% has been removed to make this consistent with other 
performance measures, all of which are measured based on a full 
percentage point.

4.3.2 Percentage of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (excluding 
UASC).  The definition for this measure has been refined to exclude 
those children and young people who are placed with relatives and 
friends, on the basis that the location of these carers cannot be 
controlled by the local authority.

4.3.3 Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 
working days.  The Target has been reduced from 90.0% to 85.0% to 
bring it in line with the Target set by the responsible Clinical 
Commission Group in Kent. The definition for this measure has also 
been amended to exclude those young people who refuse an Initial 
Health Assessment within the first three months of coming into care.  
They will be included subsequent to the three-month period as there is 
still an expectation that they will receive an initial health assessment.

4.3.4 Percentage of Health Assessments held within timescale.  This is 
a measure of the timeliness of all health assessments, initial and 
review.  As for the previous measure the Target has been reduced 

Page 32



from 90.0% to 85.0% to bring it in line with the target set by the Clinical 
Commissioning Group in Kent.

4.3.5 Percentage of Dental Checks held within required timescale.  The 
Amber RAG banding for this measure has been extended from 5.0% to 
10.0%, which is in line with the other measures included within the 
Children in Care Scorecard.  The Amber banding will be applied for 
performance between 80.0%-90.0%.

4.3.6 Percentage of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for CIC.  This 
indicator will provide a measure of the timeliness of assessments for 
Children in Care requiring an Education and Health Care Plan.  The 
Target set within the CYPE Vision and Priorities statement for all 
children in Kent is 90.0%.  The baseline figure for Children in Care is 
not yet available.  Once this has been obtained performance will be 
reviewed and a target for children in care will be proposed.  

4.3.7 Percentage of Children leaving care who were adopted (excluding 
UASC), or made subject to a Special Guardianship Order (SGO).  
The previous measure focused on an outcome of adoption only.  The 
inclusion of those who have been made subject to an SGO shifts the 
focus to include this outcome as an equal measurement of 
permanence at the end of an episode of care. 

4.3.8 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working 
days.  The target of 85.0% has been retained for 2018-19, however it 
is proposed that the Amber banding is extended to 15.0% (to be 
applied for performance between 70.0%-85.0%).  This retains the 
focus on the statutory timescale as the target whilst allowing for an 
increased percentage to take place outside of the 3 days.  No 
benchmarking data is available, so this recommendation is made 
based on feedback from young people and the percentage of Returner 
Interviews that take place just outside of the timescale.  

4.3.9 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed for CIC.  This 
additional performance measure has been added to the CIC Scorecard 
for 2018-19, with a proposed Target of 90.0%.  This is in recognition of 
the feedback received from some young people that three days is 
sometimes too soon, and that the emphasis should instead be placed 
on ensuring that Returner Interviews take place, regardless of the 
timescales.  There continues to be a gap in the availability of 
benchmarking data for Returner Interviews and the target is deemed to 
be sufficiently challenging to maintain and improve current 
performance.

5. Recommendations

5.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard 
and the Target Setting document for 2018-19.

Page 33



6. Background documents

None

7. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 21 February 2018

SC SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Jan 2018

Page 35



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied.

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 2 of 10

Page 36

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 99.3% G 1,619 1,630 98% 99.1% G 99.3% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.3% G 4,346 4,558 95% 95.6% G 96.7% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 42.9% R 484 1,128 60% 44.6% R 46.2% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 12.4% A 209 1,687 10% 12.2% A 12.8% A 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.8% A 396 567 70% 70.1% G 70.0% A 68% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 85.2% G 955 1,121 85% 84.8% A 85.2% G
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 78.9% A 1,085 1,376 80% 78.6% A 78.9% A

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 42.7 1,423    333,045 42.7 42.7 57 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,687 1,745 1,423

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,331 1,327

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 72.9% 822 1,128 66.4% 77.4%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 13.9% 98 704 12.7% 17.7%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.6% 44 1,687 2.7% 2.9%

% in P&V placements L SS 6.4% 108 1,687 5.7% 7.6%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 8.2% 138        1,687 7.9% 6.6%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.6% 246 1,687 14.7% 12.1%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 38 27 38

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 14.0% 60 430 15.6% 13.0%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 85.0% A 432 508 90% 85.3% A 85.0% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 75.6% R 374 495 90% 75.4% R 75.6% R
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 92.7% G 1,199 1,294 90% 89.9% A 93.3% G 89.4% ***

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 88.8% A 1,149 1,294 90% 87.3% A 89.9% A 83.4% ***

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 97.5% A 77 79 100% 100.0% G 91.7% A

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.5 5,086 376 13.6 14.1

% of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 mths, for those with an agency decision H R12M 54.1% R 59 109 80% 56.1% R - -
Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 349.8 G 34,981 100 426.0 349.3 G - - 593 **

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 122.3 A 11,739 96 121.0 118.8 G - - 223 **

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) H R12M 16.8% G 100 595 15.0% 17.1% G 16.8% G 14% ***

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 86.2% 94 109 86.8% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 84.2% 32 38 85.4% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.6% 60 1,687 3.4% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 3.6% 40 1,107 3.6% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 6.7% 40 595 7.0% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 77.2% A 807 1,045 85% 78.5% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 87 83 78

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 17 35 14

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 5 5

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.8% G 1,376 1,467 90% 93.6% G 92.4% G 92.2% ***

Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 66.2% G 971 1,467 65% 65.7% G 50.5% R 58.6% ***

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 95.4% G 1,402 1,469 90% 88.5% A 96.1% G
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 88.4% G 1,418 1,604 85% 88.7% G 90.6% ***

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 4.4% 67 1,519 4.1% 7.8%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 85.2% G 97.9 114.9 85% 85.2% G - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.2 A 1,595 104.9 15.0 15.6 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 60.7 G 1,687 27.8 70.0 61.2 G 51.2 G

* indicates national figures from 2014/15

** indicates national figures from 2015/16

*** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Last month's result

and RAG Status

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Data not available due to new system implementation

Complaints

Jan 2018Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Target for 

17-18

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Excluding UASC

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 3 of 10

Page 37



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability Female Male Grand Total

0 26 41 67 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 12 45 58

1 25 13 38 Behaviour 9 41 50

2 12 19 31 Communication 7 18 25

3 9 10 19 Consciousness 8 9 17

4 14 21 35 Hand Function 1 1 2

5 15 19 34 Hearing 3 7 10

6 12 14 26 Incontinence 3 9 12

7 16 25 41 Learning 28 52 80

8 26 32 58 Mobility 12 12 24

9 34 43 77 Personal Care 3 8 11

10 31 51 82 Vision 6 8 14

11 43 56 99 Other DDA 6 14 20

12 41 53 94 None 574 930 1504

13 51 79 130

14 57 77 134

15 67 97 164 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 74 168 242 Yes 8 256 264

17 76 240 316 No 621 802 1423

Grand Total 629 1058 1687 Grand Total 629 1058 1687

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 85 85 A1 - White British 540 679 1219

Albanian 17 17 A2 - White Irish 3 2 5

Bangladeshi 1 2 3 A3 - Any other White background 20 47 67

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

British 593 754 1347 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 6 9 15

Chinese 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 12 23 35

Congolese 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 2 9 11

Czech 6 1 7 B3 - White and Asian 4 5 9

Egyptian 9 9 B4 - Any other mixed background 21 10 31

Eritrean 3 66 69 C1 - Indian 4 4

Ethiopian 3 3 C2 - Pakistani 1 1

German 2 2 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 2 3

Ghana 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 35 39

Guinean 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Indian 1 1 D2 - African 10 88 98

Iranian 21 21 D3 - Any other Black background 1 4 5

Iraqi 21 21 E1 - Chinese 1 1

Irish 2 4 6 E2 - Any other ethnic group 3 138 141

Ivorian 1 1 Grand Total 629 1058 1687

Jamaican 1 1

Kuwaiti 1 1

Latvian 6 1 7

Lithuanian 1 6 7

Nepalese 1 3 4

Nigerian 1 3 4

Omani 1 1

Pakistani 1 1

Polish 5 5

Portugese 1 1

Slovak 4 11 15

Slovenian 1 3 4

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 7 7

Syrian 9 9

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 4 12 16

Not Recorded 2 2 4

Grand Total 629 1058 1687

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/01/2018

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 4 of 10

Page 38



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

Jan
13

Apr
13

Jul
13

Oct
13

Jan
14

Apr
14

Jul
14

Oct
14

Jan
15

Apr
15

Jul
15

Oct
15

Jan
16

Apr
16

Jul
16

Oct
16

Jan
17

Apr
17

Jul
17

Oct
17

Jan
18

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Care Leavers**
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Feb
15

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 5 of 10

Page 39



Kent SE SN England

Reading 41.0% 41.0% 38.1% 41.0% 3rd

Writing 49.0% 46.0% 42.1% 46.0% 2nd

Maths 42.0% 37.0% 28.2% 41.0% 3rd

RWM 23.0% 24.0% 25.0% 25.0% 4th

20.0% 16.4% 15.6% 17.5% 2nd

21.4 21.8 23.29 22.8 3rd

-1.16 -1.14 -1.11 -1.14 3rd

15.2% 12.4% 11.7% 10.4% 4th

9.3% 10.3% 9.4% 9.1% 2nd

Key:
GLD  Good level of development SN Statistical Neighbours

RWM  Reading, Writing and Maths SE  South East Region

Education Data

Key Stage Measure

Performance

Quartile

Key Stage 2 % at least expected standard

% of Children who have been continuously looked after for 12 months with at least 1 fixed term 

exclusion from school

% of children looked after who are classed as persistent absentees

Key Stage 4

% A*- C in English & Maths

Attainment 8

Progress 8

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 6 of 10

Page 40



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors December 2017 Multiple Attendance Factors January 2018

LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors December 2017 LAC on RTT with Multiple Factors January 2018

Cohort 27 Cohort 38

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/01/2018 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 7 of 10

Page 41



Definition

Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17 Jan 18 Ave

+3.4% +3.9% +7.1% +7.1% +7.4% +5.8% +5.6% +2.2% +4.1% +5.7% +4.6% +3.3%

Number of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more split by age

Number and Percentage of cases held not held for 12 months for those who have been LAC for 18 months or more

Maintaining the consistency of the Social Worker for children and young people is a key priority for Specialist Children’s Services.  

The outturn position for this measure was 51.5% but over the past six months this performance has dropped to an average of 

45.2%.  In January 2018, as performance is below 45%, which is the minimum level of performance set against the target of 60%, 

a Red RAG rating has been applied to this measure.

The drop in performance is a result of two main factors: the restructuring of the Disabled Young People’s teams, where 

performance for these teams reduced from 63.8% in March 2017 (prior to the restructure), to 30.1% in January 2018 and a drop 

in performance for South Kent resulting from a high number of staff on maternity leave, reducing performance for South Kent 

from 59.7% in March 2017 to 29.9% in January 2018.

Commentary

CIC for at least 18 months who've had the same Social Worker for 12 months 

(Inc. UASC)

5 Year trend graph (Feb 13 - Jan 18) Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 42.9%

Theme Children

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

10
86

285

117
1

19

126

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0-4 Yrs 5-9 Yrs 10-15 Yrs 16+ Yrs

UASC Citizen

North Kent CIC
106
16%

East Kent Can-Swa CIC
130
20%

East Kent Tha CIC
69

11%

South Kent CIC
155
24%

West Kent CIC
116
18%

Disability EK
34
5%

Disability WK
24
4%

Asylum
10
2%

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 8 of 10

Page 42



Definition

Feb 17 Mar 17 Apr 17 May 17 Jun 17 Jul 17 Aug 17 Sep 17 Oct 17 Nov 17 Dec 17 Jan 18 Ave

+4.9% +3.8% +2.1% +0.6% +0.7% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% +1.0%

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 75.6%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 

due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 

working days of the date they became looked after.

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

This is an improving indicator.  There are robust partnerships in place between Health and SCS to deliver and ensure there is 

ongoing scrutiny of the timeliness and capacity for initial health assessments.  This partnership is delivering improvements to the 

completion of the health assessments.  Both agencies are aware this focus and scrutiny needs to continue so this indicator moves 

to a 90% completion rate.

The provider is subject to an Improvement Notice.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 

by age and legal status

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

4 6

23 25

30

8

15 10

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

151

77 84
62

30

13
25

16

4

1

13

19

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 9 of 10

Page 43



Definition

PID Reference A01

Current RAG Red - 54.1%

% of cases where Adoption was agreed as the plan within 4 months (Children 

with an Agency Decision)

Theme Adoption

The definition for this measure requires Adoption to be the sole plan at the 2nd Review, which is a maximum of four months 

after a child becomes ‘Looked After’ by the Local Authority.   Some children will however have had more than 2 reviews within 

this timescale.  For a number of children alternative plans were still being considered at the second review and this will be the 

correct course of action for these children as reunification to parents or extended family options will be being considered.

For 50 children over the rolling 12 month period a decision on Adoption as the plan for permanence was not agreed by four 

months of them coming into care.  For 16 of these children the decision was in the fourth month, so just outside of the timescale.  

Timeliness of decision making in the adoption process is closely tracked by the Adoption Service who will escalate any concerns 

to the relevant Service Manager.

Commentary

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by how many months it took for to be agreed

5 Year trend graph (Feb 13 - Jan 18) Last 12 months

Number of children where adoption wasn't agreed as the plan within 4 months by age and gender

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

Adtoption not agreed as sole 
care plan

2
5%

4th month
16

40%

5th month
11

27%

6th month
7

18%

7th month
4

10%

10

3
5

3
5

2

6

5
4

2
1

3

10

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Female Male

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 01/03/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018 Page 10 of 10

Page 44



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Children in Care
Performance Report

2018/2019 Target Setting

DRAFT

Produced by SCS Management Information

Page 45



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Report Overview 

This report is produced on a monthly basis and is one of a number of key performance reports produced which cover 
the responsibilities of Specialist Children’s Services (SCS).

The purpose of the monthly Children in Care Performance Report is to provide a regular update to Kent Corporate 
Parenting Panel on the progress of the Key Performance Indicators for Children in Care.  These indicators and their 
targets/tolerances are agreed by the Corporate Parenting Panel, the Corporate Director for CYPE and the Director for 
Specialist Children’s Services together with their Senior Management Teams and the Management Information Unit.

Each indicator is given a RAG (Red Amber Green) Rating based on the agreed targets and tolerances.   For those 
indicators where performance is significantly away from the Target (those with a RED RAG rating), additional 
information will be provided within the report.  This will include trend information covering either a 12 month or 5 
year period, and a narrative commentary to provide an explanation on the current performance.

Other reports used to monitor performance include:

Operational Reports
Daily Scheduled Liberi Reports
Team Operational Dashboards (TODs)
Data Quality Tool

Performance Reports 
Children in Care Scorecard (Monthly)
SCS Scorecard (Monthly)
Fostering Scorecard (Monthly)
Adoption Scorecard (Monthly)
Online Audit Report (Monthly)
Missing Children Report (Monthly)
Risk of CSE Summary Report (Monthly)
IRO Quality Assurance report (Monthly)
Central Referral Unit (Quarterly)
Out of Hours Report (Quarterly)
Quarterly Missing Children Report (Quarterly)
Care Leavers Performance Report (Quarterly)
SCS Quarterly Performance Report (Quarterly)

Page 46



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Proposals for the 2018/2019 Children in Care Performance Report

Layout

 No proposed changes to the layout of the report

Performance Indicators

Removed

 % of cases adoption agreed as plan within 4 months, for those with an agency decision.  This has been 
removed from the main SCS scorecard due to the high impact of small numbers of children that can 
disproportionately distort the outcome of the performance measure. Timely decision making will continue to 
be a focus of the CIC Review meetings and performance against this measure will continue to be reported 
within the Adoption Scorecard.

Added
It is proposed that the following performance indicators are added:

 % of Returner Interviews completed for CIC.  This performance measure will show the total percentage of 
Returner Interviews completed, regardless of whether they were within the 3 day timescale.  This is in 
recognition that in some circumstances, and for some young people, completion of a Returner Interview 
within 3 working days is not always possible.  This measure already exists in the main SCS scorecard for all 
SCS children, so within this scorecard the focus will be on completion rates for Children in Care.

 Percentage of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for CIC.  This indicator will provide a measure of the timeliness 
of assessments for Children in Care requiring an Education and Health Care Plan.

Amended
It is proposed that the following performance indicators are amended:

 % of IHAs taking place within 20 working days. If a young person refused an Initial Health Assessment within 
the last 3 months, they would be excluded from the denominator.  In previous years they would have been 
included.  However, if the refusal was 3 or more months previously it would be expected that a subsequent 
attempt would be made and they therefore will be included at that point.   

 % of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC).  Definition amended to exclude those who are 
placed with family or friends as this is outside of the control of the local authority.

 % of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC). This measure is being extended to include those 
children who are subject to a Special Guardianship Oder so will be renamed as “% of Children leaving care 
who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO”.

Page 47



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Proposed Targets and Rationale

Unless stated otherwise, the Targets and RAG bandings were agreed by the SCS Divisional Management Team on 6th February 2018.  New 
measures, or those where the target, RAG rating or definition has been changed for 2018-19 have been shaded.

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

% of CIC cases which were 
reviewed within required 
timescales

Inc UASC
99.1% Green

Exc UASC 
99.1% Green

98% and 
above

Local Measure 98% and 
above

Red below 90%
Amber 90% to 98%
Green 98% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of Children who 
participated at CIC 
Reviews

Inc UASC
95.7% Green

Exc UASC 
97.0% Green

95% and 
above

Local Measure 95% and 
above

Red below 85%
Amber from 85% to 
95%
Green 95% and 
above

Target to remain the same as 2017/18, 
and 0.5 removed from lower RAG 
banding.

% of CIC for 18 months 
and allocated to the same 
worker for the last 12 
months

Inc UASC
44.6% Red

Exc UASC 
49.1% Amber

60% and 
above

Local Measure 60% and 
above

Red below 45%
Amber 45% to 60%
Green 60% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

CIC Placement Stability: % 
with 3 or more 
placements in the last 12 
months

Inc UASC
12.2% Amber

Exc UASC 
12.5% Amber

10% and
below

10.0% England average 
2015/16

11.2 Stat. Neighbour 
average 2015/16

10% and 
below

Red above 13%
Amber 10% to 13%
Green 10% and 
below

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

P
age 48



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

 Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

CIC Placement Stability: % 
in same placement for last 
2 years

Inc UASC
70.1% Green

Exc UASC 
70.2% Green

70% and
above

68.0% England average 
2015/16

65.8% Stat. Neighbour 
average 2015/16

59.0% South East 
Benchmarking Qtr 2 

2017/18

70% and 
above

Red below 65%
Amber 65% to 70%
Green 70% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of CIC Foster Care in 
KCC Foster Care/Relatives 
& Friends placements 
(excluding UASC)

Exc UASC 
84.8% Amber

85% and
above

Local Measure 85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber 75% to 85%
Green 85% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of CIC placed within 20 
miles from home 
(excluding UASC)

Exc UASC 
78.6% Amber

80% and
above

Local Measure

National measure is %  
placed more than 20 miles 

from home and outside 
the LA boundary.  In 2017 
Kent was 5.0%, Eng 14.0% 

and SN 13.9%. 

80% and 
above

Red below 70%
Amber 70% to 80%
Green 80% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18. 

Definition amended to exclude children 
placed with Family & Friends as the 
distance of these placements are 
outside the control of the local 
authority.

% of IHA referrals within 5 
working days of becoming 
looked after

Inc UASC
85.2% Amber

Exc UASC 
85.2% Amber

90% and 
above

Local Measure 90% and 
above

Red below 80%
Amber 80% to 90%
Green 90% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of Initial Health 
Assessments taking place 
within 20 working days

Inc UASC
75.4% Red

Exc UASC 
75.4% Red

90% and 
above

Local Measure 85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber 75% to 85%
Green 85% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings lowered to be 
in line with NHS target as measure is 
dependent on NHS capacity.  Definition 
amended to exclude young people who 
refuse an IHA within the first 3 months 
of coming into care.

P
age 49



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

CIC Health Assessments 
held within required 
timescales

89.9% 
Dec 17

Amber

90% and 
above

89.4%
England 2017/17

86.1% Stat. Neighbours
2016/17

85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber 75% to 85%
Green 85% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings lowered to be 
in line with NHS target as set by the 
commissioning CCG.  

% of Dental Checks held 
within required timescale

Inc UASC
87.3% Amber

Exc UASC 
89% Amber

90% and 
above

83.4%
 England 2016/17

77.3% Stat. Neighbours 
2016/17

90% and 
above

Red below 80%
Amber from 80%- 
90%
Green 90% and 
above

Target to remain the same as 2017/18. 
RAG banding amended so Amber has a 
10% tolerance instead of 5%.

% of CIC who turned 18 
during the month with a 
health history completed

Inc UASC
100% Green

Exc UASC 
100% Green

100% Local Measure 100% Red below 90%
Amber from 90%-
100%
Green 100%

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of Education and Health 
Care Plans for CIC issued 
within 20 weeks

Awaiting figures Local Measure The target and RAG bandings for this 
measure have yet to be agreed.   This is 
a new measure for 2018-19 and due to a 
change in reporting systems the current 
baseline figure is not yet available.  The 
Target for all children and young people 
in Kent, as set out in CYPE Vision and 
Priorities, is 90.0%

Average number of days 
between BLA and moving 
in with adoptive family 
(for children adopted)

Inc UASC
351.3 Green

426 days and 
below

458 days
 England average 2016/17

431 days
 South East Benchmarking 

Qtr2 2017/18

426 days 
and below

Red above 518 days
Amber 426 to 518 
days
Green 426 days and 
below

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.  This is a nationally set 
Target for all Local Authorities.

P
age 50



Produced by Management Information, SCS

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest  England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

Average number of days 
between court authority 
to place a child and the 
decision on a match

Inc UASC
121.2 Amber

121 days and 
below

206 days
England average 2016/17

181 days
 South East Benchmarking 

Qtr2 2017/18

121 days 
and below

Red above 225 days
Amber 121 to 225 
days
Green 121 days and 
below

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.  This is a nationally set 
Target for all Local Authorities.

% of Children leaving care 
who were adopted (exc 
UASC) or made subject to 
an SGO

Inc UASC
12.6%

Exc UASC
23.5

Previous 
target was 
13% - for 
adoption 

only

25.7%
England 2016/17

27.8% Statistical 
Neighbours 2016/17

26% and 
above

Red below 16%
Amber from 16% - 
26%
Green 26% and 
above

Performance measure has been 
amended to include those children who 
leave care with a Special Guardianship 
Order, alongside those who are 
adopted.  

% of Returner Interviews 
completed within 3 
working days for CIC

Inc UASC
76.3% Amber

85% and 
above

Local Measure 85% and 
above

Red below 70%
Amber from 70%-
85%
Green 85% and 
above

Retain Target and amend RAG bandings.  
Lower the RED banding to 70% and 
widen the Amber banding to 70% -85% 
(moving from 10% to 15%).  This retains 
focus on the statutory timescale as the 
target whilst allowing for an increased 
percentage to take place outside of the 
3 days.  No benchmarking data is 
available, so this recommendation is 
made on the basis of feedback from 
young people, and the percentage of 
Returner Interviews that take place just 
outside of the timescale.  

P
age 51



Produced by Management Information, SCS

% of Returner Interviews 
completed for CIC

Inc UASC
88.7%

(893/1007)

N/A Local Measure 85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber from 75% - 
85%
Green 85% and 
above

This is a new measure for 2018/19. 
Target set the be the same as for the 
similar measure in the main SCS 
scorecard.

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest  England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

% of Care Leavers in 
Suitable Accommodation 
(for those that we are in 
touch with)

Inc UASC
93.3% Green

Exc UASC
91.8% Green

90% and 
above

92.2%
England 2016/17

89.3%
Statistical Neighbours 

2016/17

90% Red below 80%
Amber 80% to 90%
Green 90% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

Care Leavers in Education, 
Employment or Training 
(of those we are in touch 
with)

Inc UASC
65.7% Green

Exc UASC 
51.2% Red 

65% and
above

58.6%
England 2016/17

56.0%
Stat. Neighbours 2016/17

65.0% Red below 55%
Amber from 55 %- 
65%
Green 65% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of Care Leavers with a 
Pathway Plan updated in 
the last 6 months

Inc UASC
88.5% Amber

Exc UASC 
92.0% Green

90% and 
above

Local Measure 90% and 
above

Red below 80%
Amber from 80% -
90%
Green 90% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

% of Care Leavers we are 
in touch with (inc UASC)

Inc UASC
88.6% Green

85% and 
above

90.6% England 2016/17

88.4% Stat. Neighbour 
2016/17

85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber 75% to 85%
Green 85% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18, on the basis that Kent 
has a cohort of UASC who are long term 
missing, or who have been deported, 
therefore performance for Kent will be 
lower than the England average.

P
age 52



Produced by Management Information, SCS

% of CIC team posts filled 
by KCC Permanent QSW 
(exc Fostering & 
Adoption)

85.2%

Green

83% and 
above

Local Measure

England average for 
Agency Social Workers  

(Sept 17) was 15.8%, SN 
was 15.7%

85% and 
above

Red below 75%
Amber 75% to 85%
Green 85% and 
above

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.  

Performance Indicator
Latest Result 

(Dec 17)
Target 
17/18

Latest  England or 
Statistical Neighbour 

Result

Target
2018/19

 RAG Bandings Rationale for Target

Average Caseloads of 
Social Workers in CIC 
Teams (District Teams 
Only)

15.6

Amber

15 and 
below

Local Measure

Benchmarking data, as at 
September 2017 for 

average caseloads for all 
cases is as follows:

17.8 England

18.5 Statistical Neighbours

No benchmarking data for 
just CIC teams is available

15 cases and 
below

Red above 18 cases
Amber 16 to 18 cases
Green 15 and below

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18.

Average Caseloads of IROs Inc UASC
61.2 Green

Exc UASC
51.7 Green

70.0 and
below

Local Measure 70 cases Red above 80 cases
Amber 70 to 80 cases
Green 70 cases and 
below

Target and RAG bandings to remain the 
same as 2017/18 on the basis that the 
staffing levels for IROs are to be 
reviewed.

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



22nd March 2018 Corporate Parenting Panel

Report Quarter 3 Health Initial Health Assessment Data 
Overview

Author Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After 
Children
Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups

Introduction

Promoting the health and well-being of looked after children Statutory 
Guidance for local authorities, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England 
(DoH and DfE, 2015) clearly sets out the governments expectation of the three 
agencies in the delivery of health provision for looked after children.

Local authorities are responsible for making sure a health assessment is carried 
out for every child they look after, regardless of where the child lives. 
Regulation 7 of the Care Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) 
Regulations, 2010 requires that the local authority arranges for a registered 
medical practitioner to carry out an initial health assessment and provide a 
written report and health plan. These documents should be available in time 
for the first statutory review by the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) of the 
child’s care plan 20 working days from the start of the care episode. 

The successful completion of the initial health assessment is a jointly owned 
pathway, with the request being generated by Specialist Children’s Services 
(SCS) and the clinical appointment and report being the responsibility of 
health. 

SCS have a requirement to request the IHA within the first five working days of 
the care episode; the request has to include the correct paperwork giving the 
current address/contact details and appropriate consent for health to see the 
child/young person. Health have 15 working days in which to see the 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



child/young person, complete the report, health plan and return it to the 
child’s social worker for inclusion in the care plan. 

Quarter 3 Health Data

Quarter data is provided to the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) LAC team 
6 weeks after the end of the quarter, this ensures that the last request in the 
quarter for an IHA has been completed and returned or breached the statutory 
timeframe before the data is collated and submitted. 

The health administration hub dealt with 240 referrals for initial health 
assessments during quarter 3, of these 170 (71%) were made on time (within 
the 5 working days). The data includes referrals for UASC and adoption. 

The table below details the requests that went forward on the health 
assessment pathway:

Quarter 3 Health Data Number Percentage
Number of IHA Requests on the 
Pathway

163

Number received within 5 working 
days

117 72%

Number of Referrals Withdrawn  29 18%
Number Requiring IHA 134 82%
Number Completed within the 
Statutory Timeframe

107 80%

Number of Requests that Breach 
Statutory Timeframe

27 20%

The table below details the reasons for the requests that breach the statutory 
timeframe:

Reasons for Breach of Assessment 
Quarter 3

Number

Delayed Consent   1
Late Request 12
LAC Moved Placement   3
Appointment Declined by 
Child/Young Person

  2

Did Not Attend   2

Page 56



Internal Administration Delay 
(Health)

  1

Lack of Clinical Capacity/Appointment 
(Health)

  6

The numbers of late requests from SCS has improved over the reporting year 
but remains an area that needs further work. The late request for an IHA 
reduces the time in which health can undertake their part of the pathway, 
putting pressure on the foster carers to accept an appointment with reduced 
choice and the clinicians to complete the appointment and paperwork. Every 
effort is made by health to complete a late request within the statutory 
timeframe but this is not always possible. 

The lack of clinic capacity mainly relates to Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
young people placed at Millbank and who are part of the National Transfer 
Scheme (NTS). With the slowing down of the NTS SCS are requesting IHA for 
young people who have been in the County for 10 days or more irrespective of 
whether they are subject to the NTS. The slowing down of the NTS is putting 
pressure on health services for LAC and stretching capacity. All UASC newly 
arrived have a Fitness to Transfer health screening which ensures that there 
are no immediate health issues, the young person is given their first set of 
routine vaccinations, registered with a GP and given an NHS number. 

Appendix 1 provides examples of IHAs that have breached the statutory 
timeframe.

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Key Performance Indicators:

CCGs will set their own key performance indicators (KPI) for the services they 
commission to meet the statutory requirements contained in the statutory 
guidance.  This is done in discussion with the Provider. There is no national KPI 
for the completion of IHAs; other CCGs do not publish their data in an easily 
accessible format, the information should be contained in the annual report on 
LAC which is a statutory requirement by all CCGs. 

The Seven CCGs in Kent have a KPI of 85% for the completion of IHAs within 
the statutory timescale. 

Page 57



Joint Working:

There has been a significant amount of work undertaken between health and 
SCS to address some of the issues and concerns with the joint IHA pathway. 

A recent trawl of Liberi identified that between 01.02.17 and 31.01.18 there 
were 122 LAC whose IHAs had not been completed or completed out of 
timescale. On further investigation of the 122 cases; 85 (70%) had been 
completed and returned to KCC but found not to have been uploaded to Liberi. 
Health has provided comment on the 36 cases and this has been returned to 
SCS and MIU.

MIU produce a weekly overdue IHA list (information taken from Liberi) which is 
sent to health for comment. The list dated 08.03.18 contains 5 cases. Three of 
these are young people aged between 16 -18 who had refused to have a health 
assessment, one appointment booked but not yet taken place and one report 
returned to SCS but not recorded on Liberi. The weekly reconciliation has been 
in place for a short time but is showing positive results, as well as improving 
communication between organisations it is ensuring that we are monitoring 
and supporting the health of our children and young people. 

A further piece of work that is ongoing is a joint escalation process to support 
clearer joint working and improved communication.

The data recorded by health and MIU, for the purposes of the IHA pathway 
have been found to be different. Health record all requests for IHA, 
irrespective of whether the young person is subject to the NTS or on the 
adoption pathway. In addition if a child has not attended the appointment or if 
the referral has been incomplete, and has been returned to SCS health will 
record the second referral as a new episode thus increasing the numbers 
recorded by health and the percentage of referrals made within timescale as 
recorded on Liberi.  Without identical data sets being reported against it is 
proving difficult to understand the performance reports. 

End of Report: 12/03/18

Page 58



Appendix 1

Examples of IHAs that have not been completed within the statutory 
timeframe:

Month of 
breach                                      

December 2017

Compliance 
date from date 
into care

08/12/2017 Compliance date 
from date referral 
received

09/01/2018

Details of 
Cancer waiting 
Times 
Milestones

Date Total 
Days on 
Pathway

Working 
Days on 
Pathway

Days 
over 
agreed 
timescale

Additional 
Comments

Date Into Care 10/11/2017 0 0  Delay in 
referral in 
because child 
was in 
hospital.

Contributory 
factors

Child in hospital.

Month of 
breach                                      

November 2017

Compliance 
date from date 
into care

15/12/2017 Compliance date 
from date referral 
received

08/12/2017

Details of 
Cancer waiting 
Times 
Milestones

Date Total 
Days on 
Pathway

Working 
Days on 
Pathway

Days 
over 
agreed 
timescale

Additional 
Comments

Typing 
Authorisation                                           
(by working day 
17)

22/12/2017 35 25 8 Delay in 
doctor 
authorising 

Page 59



Month of 
breach                                      

December 2017

Compliance 
date from date 
into care

10/01/2018 Compliance date 
from date referral 
received

17/01/2018

Details of 
Cancer waiting 
Times 
Milestones

Date Total 
Days on 
Pathway

Working 
Days on 
Pathway

Days 
over 
agreed 
timescale

Additional 
Comments

Date Into Care 08/12/2017 0 0  Child was 
returned 
home during 
December so 
IHA was 
cancelled 
(original 
appointment 
was 
21/12/17).  
He came back 
into care and 
was re-
booked for 
04/01/18

Date referral 
received by 
working day 5

22/12/2017 14 10 5 Unable to 
book within 5 
days of 
receipt due to 
Christmas 
holidays and 
staff annual 
leave.

Contributory 
factors

Child taken into care and then returned home.  Episode 
discharged from system as child returned home.

Page 60



Month of 
breach                                      

October 2017

Compliance 
date from date 
into care

21/09/2017 Compliance date 
from date referral 
received

23/10/2017

Details of 
Cancer waiting 
Times 
Milestones

Date Total 
Days on 
Pathway

Working 
Days on 
Pathway

Days 
over 
agreed 
timescale

Additional 
Comments

Date Into Care 23/08/2017 0 0   

Date referral 
received 
working day 5

02/10/2017 40 28 23 Delay in 
referral being 
received.  
Further delay 
in gaining 
consent / 
carer details - 
received 
05/10/2017.  
Appt offered 
for 06/10/17 
- declined by 
carers.  Appt 
on 09/10/17 
accepted.

Contributory 
factors

Child's name not on headers and BAAF unsigned so had to 
be returned.  Appointments declined by carers.  BAAF 
amended to show school as carer.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough - Cabinet Member, Children, Young People and 
Education 

Matt Dunkley - Corporate Director, Children, Young People and 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 22nd March 2018

Subject: PROPOSAL TO DEVELOP A REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY 

Classification:                   Unrestricted

Summary: 

This report provides the Corporate Parenting Panel with the outline of a proposal to develop 
a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) in line with Government expectations for adoption 
services:

The aim is to achieve further progress in our adoption services by:
 Improving the timeliness of the matching processes between children and adoptive 

parents
 Developing the adopter recruitment and adoption support through sharing and 

pooling resources with other local authorities.
 Increasing the potential for efficiencies, sharing business processes and the 

reduction in the duplication of tasks.

This proposal supports one of the Council’s strategic outcomes – ‘Children and Young 
People in Kent get the best start in life’.

The partnership is pleased to be able to confirm that on 14th February 2018 they received 
confirmation from the DfE that the Minister had agreed to fund its RAA project. 

1 Introduction 

1.1 In June 2015, the Department for Education (DfE) published ‘Regionalising adoption’1, 
announcing its desire that all LAs join larger regional groups of LAs and Voluntary 
Adoption Agencies (VAAs) to radically redesign the adoption system in their areas and 
to provide excellent adoption services with a strong focus on innovation and practice. 
This was underpinned by the Children and Families Act 2014 and the recent publication 
‘Putting Children First: delivering our vision for excellent children’s social care’2 (DfE) 
published in July 2016. A further publication, ‘Adoption: A vision for change’3, set out the 
DfE’s expectation that LAs become part of a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) by 2020 
and, under the Education and Adoption Act 20164, the Secretary of State for Education 
now has the power to direct an LA to be part of an RAA. To support the realisation of 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
2 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_deliverin
g_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf 
3 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_Mar
ch_2016.pdf
4 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/crossheading/adoption?view=interweave

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_delivering_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/554573/Putting_children_first_delivering_vision_excellent_childrens_social_care.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_March_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_March_2016.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/crossheading/adoption?view=interweave


this strategic transformation of services, the DfE created a fund to support projects 
looking at developing RAAs.

1.2 RAAs are required to be registered adoption agencies that deliver adoption services on 
behalf of the LAs they represent. An RAA will have one pool of adopters and one pool of 
children and must ensure that VAAs are integral in their design and delivery. This 
means that RAAs are expected to deliver all adopter recruitment and assessment, 
matching and support functions.

2 The Development of the Regional Adoption Agency Programme

2.1 The development of RAAs across the country has been rolled out in three phases.

 Kent County Council (KCC) chose not to request inclusion in the RAA Programme in 
the previous phrases because of the decision to return the management of the 
adoption service back from Coram to KCC; it was felt the priority was to ensure this 
transition went smoothly. 

 Medway Council and the London Borough of Bexley have worked together in a 
consortium arrangement over many years prior to the government’s vision of the 
RAA programme. All three Authorities have been committed to progressing closer 
partnership working since 2016 in order to ensure that systems are in place in 
advance of the next phase of RAA development being announced.

2.2 The third phase of the development of the RAA’ programme was announced in 
September 2017 and the expectation is that all local authorities will be part of an RAA by 
2020.

3 Aims and Objectives of a Regional Adoption Agency

3.1 The key aims of an RAA are to:

 Provide children who have adoption as their plan with an adoptive family that meets 
their needs

 Ensure that all those affected by adoption receive the information, support and 
advice that they need to understand the adoption journey

 Ensure that families are well prepared, enabled and supported to care for the 
children with plans for adoption

3.2 The RAA would be developed so that the focus is on the child’s journey through the 
adoption process, looking to deliver high standards of practice which will lead to better 
outcomes for the child.

3.3 Key objectives are:

 Early identification of children for whom adoption is the right option
 Timely placement of all children including sibling groups and older children
 Placements which are sustainable with the right support provided as it is needed
 A sufficient range and number of adopters able to parent children with a wide range 

of profiles and needs, enabling more children to be placed “in house”
 Making available a range of different adoption placement types, including early 

placement approaches such as Foster to Adopt

Page 64



 To have an effective and well performing service which would be reflected in the 
performance data within the adoption scorecard

4 Agreed Governance for Partnership Working within the three Local Authorities

4.1 There has been significant preliminary work undertaken to ensure there are appropriate 
structures in place to progress to an RAA:

 An Executive Board has been established with representation and membership from 
each the three local authorities, including Directors of Children’s Services (DCS).

 An Operational Board has been established, which meets every six weeks and 
reports on the work plan to the Executive Board.

 There is currently no Voluntary Adoption Agency (VAA) representation on either the 
Executive or Operational Board.

 The governance model shown in Appendix A has been established to manage the 
partnership and gives equality to all local authority partners.

5 Scrutiny and Accountability

5.1 A proposal was presented to the former Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet 
Committee in September 2016, which was asked to endorse in principle the proposal to 
enter into formal dialogue with Medway Council and the London Borough of Bexley with 
a view to establishing a Regional Adoption Agency. This request was received 
positively.

5.2 An update to the Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet Committee was 
provided in September 2017, which noted and endorsed the progress of partnership 
working and the continued development of an RAA with the London Borough of Bexley 
and Medway Council. Medway Council and the London Borough of Bexley have 
undertaken similar governance with their Cabinets and received agreement to proceed.

6 The Expansion of the Regional Adoption Agency Programme

6.1 In September 2017 Local Authorities that were not already included within a formal RAA 
were asked by DfE to submit a proposal to do so in December 2017.

6.2 A proposal was submitted on behalf of Kent County Council, Medway Council and the 
London Borough of Bexley in December 2017.

6.3 The proposal confirmed that the model proposed complied with the DfE definitions of 
what constitutes an RAA:

 Single line of accountability 
 Core functions are transferred to the RAA 
 Pan regional approach
 Recruitment, support and matching 
 Each RAA to appoint a Head of Service with line management responsibility for staff 

in the RAA. 
 Pooled funding 
 Partnership with the voluntary sector 

Page 65



6.4 Options suggested by the DfE were considered by the Executive Board, the result of this 
exercise concluded that the preferred model would be to continue to work in partnership, 
with a view to moving to a shared service arrangement/single LA hosting on behalf of 
other LAs.

6.5 In February 2018, the DfE confirmed that the Minister had agreed to fund the RAA 
project. Communication with a member of the DfE RAA Project Team on 2nd March 
2018 provided positive feedback on the proposal. It was described as being very strong, 
outlining clear plans. The DfE commented that successful progression of RAA projects 
have been where agencies have worked closely together previously.

6.6 The partnership is awaiting confirmation of the amount of government funding that will    
be provided for ‘set up’ costs. A Strategic Lead will be identified and a Project Manager 
appointed to drive through the various work streams in line with the project plan to 
ensure implementation in line with the government’s timescale of 2020.   The Executive 
Board has agreed the KCC will lead on this.

7 Scope and Vision

7.1 Our vision is to achieve excellent outcomes for children through the formalisation and 
transformation of our partnership with the London Borough of Bexley and Medway in to 
a Regional Adoption Agency.

7.2 Based on a three year average of placement orders granted across all three local 
authorities, it is estimated that approximately 135-150 children annually will be placed by 
the RAA.

7.3 The court granted 92 Placement Orders in respect of Kent children in care in 2016/17    
and 84 children were placed during this period. Kent Adoption Service is on target to 
approve 85 - 90 adoptive households during 2017/18.  KCC has the largest number of 
children in care and the largest number of children for whom adoption is the plan within 
the three local authorities.

7.4 Areas under consideration for inclusion in the RAA include:

 Recruitment & Assessment – to provide the prospective adopters
 Permanence Planning – ensuring that children identified as requiring adoption 

achieve a placement
 Matching and Placement – to match prospective adopters with children in need to 

adoption
 Post Adoption Support – to provide ongoing assistance post placement and adoption 

order. 

7.5 It is anticipated that the RAA will provide a larger pool of adopters, enabling KCC to have 
a larger number of adopters to choose from when identifying a good ‘match’ for a child. 
The development of an RAA, with a Head of Service responsible to the three local 
authorities through the Executive Board, will ensure clear lines of accountability. The 
streamlining of policies and processes will ensure greater efficiencies and the sharing 
and selection of best practice will ensure a consistent approach across the region. 

Page 66



8 Conclusion

8.1 On 14th February 2018 the partnership received confirmation from the DfE that the 
Minister had agreed to fund its project. The vision of the RAA is to provide a 
comprehensive service to meet the needs of children who have been or may become 
adopted, birth families, and adoptive parents.  

Recommendation 

The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the content of the report and 
COMMENT ON the proposed development of a Regional Adoption Agency with the 
London Borough of Bexley and Medway Council

9 Background Documents

9.1    Department for Education – Regionalising Adoption Report – June 2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4
37128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf 

10 Contacts

10.1 Lead Officer
Caroline Smith

         Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk 

10.2 Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 67

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Appendix A

Role of the Executive Board

To maintain a strategic overview of the project and ensure the governance of the 
project at a senior and political level.

The core membership is made up of the Director of Children’s Services from each of 
the three local authorities, Heads of Service and Adoption Managers.  Other 
members can be co-opted at any time according to the needs of the project and 
thereafter the RAA.  The Executive Board meets quarterly, and the DCS’s Chair 
these meetings on a rotating basis.

Key functions
 Holding the Operational Board to account for the delivery of the project in 

accordance with the timescales, milestones and budget
 Ensure that the project meets with the strategic vision of each authority 

/organisation involved
 Ensure that proposed models of service delivery accord with those being 

developed in each organisation
 Ensure that proposed cost models are viable and can be recommended to 

Members
 Ensure that Chief Executives and Members are aware of the project and of 

key decisions required
 Make executive decisions as referred by the Operational Board

Page 68


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29 January 2018
	Monday 29th January 2018 - CPP

	6 Corporate Parenting Challenge Card Update - "KCC acting as a guarantor for Care Leavers"
	7 Verbal Update by the Deputy Cabinet Member
	8 Performance scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 8 - Appx 1 - CIC Performance Report - Jan 2018
	Item 8 - Appx 2 - CIC Scorecard Target Setting 18-19

	9 Quarter 3 Health Initial Health Assessment Data Overview
	10 Proposal to develop a Regional Adoption Agency

